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“ADVENTURE WITH A CAPITAL A.”

—James Rollins, New York Times bestselling author

“FOR STAY-UP-LATE, CAN’T-PUT-DOWN ABILITY, REILLY IS THE MASTER.”

—Brad Thor, New York Times bestselling author

“REILLY MAKES YOU FEEL LIKE A KID AGAIN; IT’S A BLAST.”

—Booklist

“REILLY NOVELS SHOULD COME WITH HEALTH WARNINGS.”

—The Daily Telegraph (Australia)

Acclaim for Matthew Reilly’s “ROCKET-FUELED” (Publishers Weekly) internationally bestselling Jack West, Jr., series!

THE FIVE GREATEST WARRIORS

“Thrilling. . . . There are riddles to solve, bad guys to kill, and derring-do to be done, all of which flashes by as one action scene piles onto the next. Readers should leave their thinking caps behind, hang onto the panic bar, and be prepared to be flung hither and yon. Plenty of maps and diagrams add to the fun.”

—Publishers Weekly

“Reilly outstrips, outpaces, and outlandishes such adventure-smiths as Dan Brown, Steve Berry, James Rollins, and Clive Cussler, writing with the inexhaustible invention of a hyperactive 10-year-old with a fresh box of crayons, drawing exotic battle scenes accompanied by real-time narration and sound effects. . . . For those ready to play along, they’re a giddy delight.”

—Booklist

“Nasty traps, nonstop action, and elaborate illustrations make this a compelling page-turner. . . . For fans of action, this is essential reading.”

—Library Journal

THE SIX SACRED STONES

“The wildly imaginative Reilly has taken inspiration from comics, video games, thrillers, and Code-style puzzle novels. . . . Thrilling.”

—Publishers Weekly

“Whisk[s] you through wave after wave of nonstop action on a cloud of exuberant improbabilities.”

—Booklist

“[T]his fast-paced international adventure will keep you turning pages. . . . Just sit back and enjoy the ride.”

—The Star-Ledger (Newark, NJ)

“Another winner. The interwoven combination of action and mythology . . . makes for the perfect winter beach read.”

—Library Journal

SEVEN DEADLY WONDERS

“An absolute bone crusher of a thriller! Seven Deadly Wonders had me turning the pages so fast I had blisters on my fingers.”

—Brad Thor, New York Times bestselling author

“As exciting and entertaining a story as you’re likely to read.”

—Chicago Sun-Times

“Fun. . . . Reilly keep[s] the action coming.”

—Kirkus Reviews

“Ancient history, heart-stopping booby traps, and wild adventure . . . a perfect book to jump-start your vacation beach reading.”

—Library Journal

“A nonstop roller-coaster ride.”

—Publishers Weekly
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THE MYSTERY OF THE CIRCLES




THE FIRST

shall be the noblest, scholar and soldier both.

THE SECOND

a natural leader of men,

none shall achieve greater fame than he.

THE THIRD

shall be the greatest warlord known to history.

THE FOURTH

is the great obsessor, seeking only glory, but glory is a lie.

THE FIFTH

shall face the greatest test and decide if all shall live or die.

—FIVE-THOUSAND-YEAR-OLD INSCRIPTION FOUND IN THE SPHINX’S TEMPLE, GIZA, EGYPT, KNOWN AS THE RHYME OF THE WARRIORS.

A mortal battle,

Between father and son.

One fights for all,

And the other for one.

—THREE-THOUSAND-YEAR-OLD INSCRIPTION FOUND IN CHINESE SHRINE IN THE WU GORGE, CENTRAL CHINA

Everything is connected to everything else.

—LENIN



THE STORY SO FAR . . .

THE FIVE GREATEST WARRIORS is the third part of the story begun with Seven Ancient Wonders and continued in The Six Sacred Stones.

• • •

In Seven Ancient Wonders, an intrepid international team led by CAPTAIN JACK WEST JR. found the fabled Capstone of the Great Pyramid at Giza among the (widely scattered) remains of the Seven Wonders of the Ancient World.

After rescuing and raising a young girl named LILY—who along with her brother, ALEXANDER, was the latest in a long line of gifted Oracles from Siwa in Egypt—Jack managed to set the Capstone in place on the summit of the Great Pyramid before the occurrence of a rare solar event known as the Tartarus Rotation.

Jack’s multinational team was made up of soldiers from several of the world’s smaller nations. It included: ZOE KISSANE, from Ireland; Sergeant Zahir al Anzar al Abbas from the United Arab Emirates, who was renamed by Lily POOH BEAR; Lieutenant Benjamin Cohen from Israel, now known as STRETCH; a crazy pilot from New Zealand named SKY MONSTER; and a rogue American submariner named J. J. Wickham, a.k.a. the SEA RANGER.

Providing the team with research and expert knowledge was Jack’s longtime mentor and friend, Professor Max T. Epper, call sign WIZARD, and two young Scottish grad students, the redheaded twins, LACHLAN and JULIUS ADAMSON (call sign: the COWBOYS).

As it happened, the Tartarus Rotation was actually the precursor to a far larger celestial event, the return of a “Dark Star”—the opposite of our Sun, its dark twin. Known as a zero-point field, this Dark Star is a moving body of negative energy that will destroy all life on Earth when it returns to the edge of our solar system in March 2008.

• • •

In The Six Sacred Stones, it was discovered that this Dark Star was indeed returning to the outer reaches of our solar system. It was further discovered that a device built by a mysterious ancient civilization and known as THE MACHINE exists on our planet and, if rebuilt, it will repel the negative energy of the Dark Star and save the world.

Rebuilding the Machine, however, meant first finding six magnificent underground “temple-shrines” scattered around the Earth, each built in the shape of an inverted bronze pyramid and known as a VERTEX.

At each Vertex, a long lost PILLAR—a dazzling rectangular diamond the size of a brick—must be set in place: the First Pillar at the First Vertex, the Second at the Second Vertex, and so on. The locations of the six lost Pillars was another mystery that had to be solved.

It was this mission, the mission to rebuild the Machine, that was begun in The Six Sacred Stones.

• • •

During that quest, it was discovered that other parties were also seeking to rebuild the Machine: a powerful triple alliance of the Caldwell Group from America, China, and Saudi Arabia.

The American side of this alliance was led by Jack’s father, JACK WEST SR. (known as WOLF), the Chinese by COLONEL MAO GONGLI and the Saudis by a Saudi spy named VULTURE who had worked for a time with Jack’s team, only to betray them. Aiding Vulture was SCIMITAR, Pooh Bear’s older brother, who joined Vulture in his betrayal of the team.

Through the influence of the shadowy Caldwell Group—a military-industrial organization that had once held sway over the American president—Wolf still commanded a special forces branch of the US military, the Commander-in-Chief’s In Extremis Force, or THE CIEF, which he used as his own private army.

Jack and his father had long been estranged, and at one point in the adventure, in a mysterious mine in Ethiopia, Wolf ruthlessly tried to kill Jack but failed.

A further group aiding Wolf was a coalition of three European royal houses, those of Britain, Denmark, and Russia. They were represented by the beautiful IOLANTHE COMPTON-JONES of the British Royal Family.

Finally, a sinister brotherhood of Japanese nationals, humiliated by Japan’s defeat in World War II, entered the fray, only with a different agenda: they did not want to see the Machine rebuilt at all. Led by Wizard’s onetime colleague, TANK TANAKA, this Blood Brotherhood wanted to see the world destroyed by the Dark Star, to avenge their defeat in World War II. To achieve this end, among other things, they managed to infiltrate Wolf’s team with one of their own men, a Japanese-American Marine code-named SWITCHBLADE.

After many adventures, Jack ultimately managed to plant the First and Second Pillars at the First and Second Vertices (at Abu Simbel and Cape Town respectively), but not without loss, for The Six Sacred Stones ended with the team in desperate straits.

• • •

One of their number, Stretch, having been captured by Wolf, was taken back to Israel to face his angry former masters at the Mossad. Pooh Bear was last seen heading off to rescue his friend.

Zoe, Wizard, and Lily—having survived a terrifying ordeal at the hands of the Neetha tribe in the jungles of the Congo—dashed to southern Africa in Jack’s plane, the Halicarnassus, to help Jack at the Second Vertex.

They brought with them DIANE CASSIDY, an American archaeologist whom they had rescued from the Neetha. Unfortunately, before they could help Jack, they were forced to flee southern Africa in the Halicarnassus, with enemy fighters on their tail.

One unexpected witness to Jack’s astonishing success at the Second Vertex was Lily’s best friend, twelve-year-old ALBY CALVIN, who had been brought there by Wolf as his captive. After Jack had laid the Pillar, Wolf left young Alby to die in the dark cavern containing the Second Vertex.

As for Jack himself, after laying the Second Pillar—and foiling Switchblade’s plan—he was last seen falling into the fathomless abyss beneath the Second Vertex alongside the furious Switchblade.

• • •

The fates of Jack, Stretch, Pooh Bear, Lily, and their team, and the search for the final four Vertices and the laying of the last four Pillars are the subject of this book, The Five Greatest Warriors . . .
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THE SECOND VERTEX
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THE CITY AND THE PYRAMID
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THE ENTRANCE TUNNEL





THE SECOND VERTEX


BENEATH THE CAPE OF GOOD HOPE

SOUTH AFRICA

DECEMBER 17, 2007, 0325 HOURS

JACK WEST fell.

Fast.

Down into the black abyss beneath the inverted pyramid that was the Second Vertex.

As he plummeted into the darkness, Jack looked up to see the gigantic pyramid receding into the distance, getting smaller and smaller, the jagged walls of the abyss crowding in around it.

Falling through the air beside him was Switchblade, the Japanese-American US Marine who moments earlier had betrayed Wolf and almost derailed his plan to insert the Second Pillar in its rightful place at the peak of the pyramid. It turned out that Switchblade’s Japanese blood was more important to him than his American upbringing.

But after a last-ditch swing from Jack and a desperate struggle above the abyss, Jack had jammed the Pillar in place just as the two of them had dropped from the upside-down peak and commenced their fall into the bottomless darkness.

The rocky walls of the abyss rushed past Jack in a blur of speed. He fell with Switchblade in a tumbling ungainly way, their limbs still awkwardly entwined.

As they plummeted, Switchblade punched and scratched and lashed out at Jack, before grabbing his shirt and glaring at him with baleful eyes, screaming above the wind, “You! You did this! At least I know you’ll die with me!”

Jack parried away the crazed Marine’s blows as they fell.

“No, I won’t . . .” he said grimly as he suddenly kicked Switchblade square in the chest, pushing himself away from the suicidal Marine—at the same time, grabbing something from a holster on Switchblade’s back, something that every Force Recon Marine carried.

His Maghook.

Switchblade saw the device in Jack’s hands, and his eyes widened in horror. He tried to grab it, but now Jack was out of his reach.

“No! No!!”

Still falling, Jack pivoted in the air, turning his back on Switchblade to face the wall of the abyss.

He fired the Maghook.

Whump!

The high-tech grappling hook flew out from its gunlike launcher, its metal claws snapping outward as it did so, its 150-foot-long reinforced-nylon cable wobbling like a tail behind it.

The grappling hook’s claws hit the wall of the abyss, scraped against it, searching for a purchase before—whack!—they found an uneven section of rock and caught—and instantly Jack’s cable went taut—and his fall was abruptly and violently arrested, and it took all his might to keep a grip on the Maghook’s launcher.

But hold on he did, and as he swung in toward the vertical wall of the abyss, the last thing he saw behind him was the shocked, furious, powerless, horrified, and beaten look on Switchblade’s face as he fell into black nothingess, his evil mission a failure—a failure that was multiplied a hundredfold by the realization that Jack West had got the better of him with one of his own weapons and that he was now going to die alone.

• • •

Jack swung into the wall of the abyss with a colossal thump that almost dislocated his left shoulder.

Silence.

For a moment, Jack hung there from the cable of Switchblade’s Maghook, dangling from the rocky vertical wall of the great abyss, high above the center of the world and at least a thousand feet below the upside-down bronze pyramid of the Vertex. Despite its immense size, it now looked positively tiny.

Closing his eyes, Jack exhaled the biggest sigh of relief of his life.

“What the hell were you thinking, Jack?” he whispered to himself, catching his breath, letting the adrenaline rush subside.

A flutter of feathers made him spin, and suddenly a small brown peregrine falcon alighted on his shoulder.

Horus.

His faithful bird pecked affectionately at his ear.

Jack smiled wearily but genuinely. “Thanks, bird. I’m glad I survived, too.”

Distant shouts from up in the Vertex made him look up—Wolf’s people must have noticed that the Pillar had been set in place and were now sending men to get it.

Jack sighed. He could never hope to climb back up in time to catch them, let alone stop them. He might have saved the world and their lives and killed the traitor in their midst, but now the bad guys were going to get the booty: the Second Pillar’s reward, the mysterious concept known only as heat.

But there was nothing Jack could do about that now.

He turned to Horus. “You coming?”

And with that, he gazed up at the pyramid high above him and after a deep breath, reeled in the Maghook, grabbed a handhold on the rough surface of the abyss’s wall, and began the long climb upward.


IT TOOK Jack nearly an hour to scale the wall of the abyss—by firing the Maghook up it, then ascending its cable 150 feet at a time.

It was slow going, since the rocky wall was largely sheer and slick, and sometimes the grappling hook found no purchase at all and just fell back down toward Jack.

But after about fifty minutes of such climbing, Jack slid over the edge of a stone rail and lay on his back on the precipice, his chest heaving, sucking in air. Horus landed lightly beside him.

When Jack sat up, he saw the magnificent underground city constructed in supplication to the inverted pyramid, with its hollow towers, its streets of inky black liquid and, through the forest of bridges and towers, the massive ziggurat rising in its center; the whole scene lit by Wolf’s dying amber flares.

Of course, the entire supercavern was now deserted, Wolf’s force having long since departed.

Also gone, Jack noted sadly, were his companions, the Adamson twins and the Sea Ranger. Jack imagined that, thinking him dead, they had rightly hurried back down the long underwater passageway that led back to the open ocean in the Sea Ranger’s submarine—

Movement.

Jack spun, his eyes focusing on the summit of the ziggurat, just visible between all the towers.

“Oh my God . . .” he breathed, registering who it was.

There, sitting totally alone on top of the mighty ziggurat, his head bowed, one of his arms in a sling, was a small boy, his daughter’s best friend, Alby Calvin.

• • •

Left alone in this enormous space, with his wounded shoulder aching and with Jack West Jr.’s battered FDNY fireman’s helmet sitting in his lap, Alby had given up all hope of escape and was waiting for the last flares to fizzle out, when he heard the shouting voice.

“Alby! Albeeee!”

He snapped to look up—fresh tears still running down his cheeks—to see a tiny figure over by the edge of the abyss waving his arms.

Jack.

Alby’s eyes nearly popped out of his head.

• • •

Jack negotiated his way across the underground minimetropolis, over to the central ziggurat, using Wolf’s plank bridges where he could and swinging across the wider thoroughfares with the Maghook where he had to.

The black ooze that filled the city’s streets appeared to be a thick mudlike substance—semiliquid and goopy. If you fell into it, you didn’t get out.

As he traversed the avenues, he tried his radio. “Sea Ranger, come in? Do you read me?”

No reply.

His small handheld radio didn’t have the signal strength to reach the Sea Ranger in his submarine.

Moving in his unorthodox way, Jack hurried across the underground city.

At last, he came to the base of the ziggurat and bounded up its stairs, arriving at the roof, where he slid to Alby’s side and embraced him as if he were his own son.

Likewise, Alby hurled his good arm around Jack, closing his eyes, tears streaming down his cheeks.

“I thought I was going to die here, by myself in the dark . . .” he whimpered.

“I wouldn’t let that happen, Alby.” Jack released the boy from his bear hug. “You’re too good a friend to Lily . . . and to me. Plus, your mother would absolutely kill me.”

Alby stared at him. “You just fell into a chasm with a guy who was trying to kill everyone in the whole world and you’re afraid of my mom?”

“Hell yeah. When it comes to your well-being, your mom’s scary.”

Alby smiled at that. Then he lifted Jack’s fireman’s helmet from his lap and offered it to Jack. “I think this belongs to you.”

Jack took it and placed it on his head, pulling the chin strap tight. Just putting it on made him look and feel whole again. “Thanks. I’ve been missing that.”

He nodded at Alby’s sling. “So what happened to you?”

“I got shot.”

“Jesus Christ, your mom’s really gonna kill me. By who?”

“By that guy who fell into the chasm with you. Back in Africa, in the Neetha kingdom.”

“Maybe there is justice in the world,” Jack said. “Come on, little buddy, this ain’t over yet, we gotta move. We have to catch up with the Sea Ranger and the twins.”

He hefted Alby to his feet.

“How are we going to do that?” Alby asked.

“The old-fashioned way,” Jack said.

• • •

Jack and Alby hustled back across the city, heading for the northeast harbor, racing over bridges or swinging—with Alby piggybacking on Jack’s back.

After twenty minutes of this kind of travel, they came to the hill of stone steps that descended into the enclosed harbor there.

“I just hope they haven’t cleared the tunnel and got to the open sea yet,” Jack said, pulling off his helmet and stepping knee deep into the water.

Then he began banging the metal helmet against the first stone step beneath the waterline.

Dull clangs rang out. Three short ones, three long ones, then three short ones again.

Morse code, Alby realized.

Jack clanged the helmet against the stone some more, punching out another code.

“Let’s hope the sonar operator knows his Morse,” he said.

“How will they know it’s you?” Alby said. “They might think it’s a trap, that it’s Wolf trying to bring them back.”

“I’m signaling: ‘S.O.S. COWBOYS COME BACK.’ The twins only just got their nicknames, nicknames Wolf can’t possibly know.”

“How will you know if they’ve heard you?”

Jack sat down on the top step, holding his helmet limply in his hand. “I can’t know. All we can do now is wait and hope they haven’t already gone out of range.”

• • •

Jack and Alby waited, sitting on the top step of the hill of stairs rising out of the ancient walled harbor, in the dying yellow light of Wolf’s flares.

The shadows lengthened as the flares began to sink and fizzle out. The majestic underground city and the pyramid lording over it, having existed in darkness for so many centuries, were about to be plunged back into blackness.

And as the last flare began to flicker and die, Jack put his arm around Alby. “I’m sorry, kid.”

The flare went out.

Darkness engulfed them.


A MOMENT LATER, a colossal whooshing noise filled the air, followed by splashing and the sound of water running off the flanks of a—

Bam!

A spotlight lanced out of the darkness, exposing Jack and Alby on their step, illuminating them in a circle of harsh white light. They had to shield their eyes, the light was so bright.

A Russian-made Kilo-class submarine loomed in the water in front of them, dark and immense.

A hatch opened beside the external spotlight and out of it stepped J. J. Wickham, the Sea Ranger, Jack’s longtime friend and captain of the Indian Raider. With him were the Adamson twins, Lachlan and Julius, Jack’s mathematical and historical experts.

“Jack!” the Sea Ranger said. “And you must be Alby—Jack’s told me all about you. Well, come on! Get in! We were in the middle of a perfectly good escape when you called us back. You can tell us all about how you escaped certain death when we’re out of here. Now, move!”

Jack could only smile. He grabbed Alby’s hand and they leaped down into the water and clambered aboard the submarine.

• • •

An hour later, the sub emerged from the ancient tunnel and powered out into the Indian Ocean, barely beating a South African Navy frigate sent to investigate the waters off the Cape of Good Hope.

Once they were safe and clear, the Sea Ranger sought Jack out in his quarters. He found him sitting with Alby, re-dressing the little boy’s bullet wound.

“You’re lucky the bullet went right through,” Jack was saying. “Took a little chunk of your shoulder with it. You’ll have full range of motion again in about six weeks.”

“What’ll I tell my mom?” Alby asked.

Jack whispered conspiratorially, “I was kinda hoping you’d let me put a cast on your arm and we’d tell your mum you broke your arm falling out of a tree.”

“Done.”

“Er, Jack,” Wickham interrupted. “What do we do now?”

Jack looked up.

“We regroup. As soon as we’re in safe radio space, call the others on the Halicarnassus and tell them to rendezvous with us at World’s End.”

“World’s End? I thought it’d been abandoned.”

“It was abandoned, which is why it’s perfect for us right now. Zoe and Wizard know the coordinates.”

“I’ll get on it.” Wickham left.

Jack watched him go, lost in thought.

Alby was eyeing Jack. “Mr. West?”

“Yeah?” Jack came out of his reverie.

“That Wolf guy has the first two Pillars, fully charged, plus the Firestone and the Philosopher’s Stone. That English lady, Iolanthe, has the Fourth Pillar. We have no sacred stones, no Pillars, no nothing. Have we lost this fight?”

Jack looked down at his feet. Then he replied, “Alby, we’re playing a different game to them: they want power and strength and riches. We just want to keep the world turning. And while we’re still breathing, we’re still in the game. No fight is over till the last punch is thrown.”



CAPE TOWN, SOUTH AFRICA


DECEMBER 17, 2007, 0600 HOURS

THE SOUTH African Navy patrol boat came alongside a military dock in the shadow of Table Mountain.

As soon as its gangway hit the dock, Jack West Sr.—Jack’s father and bitter rival in this quest—strode off the boat and stepped straight into a waiting limousine. Known as Wolf, in his late fifties, he was burly and strong, and he looked just like Jack West Jr., with a creased face and ice blue eyes, only twenty years older.

With Wolf was his five-person entourage, a mixed group that represented the coalition of nations and organizations backing Wolf’s participation in the quest to lay the Six Pillars at the Six Vertices: China, Saudi Arabia, the Royal Families of Europe, and his own American military-industrial cabal, the Caldwell Group.

Representing China was Colonel Mao Gongli. Known as the Butcher of Tiananmen, he’d supplied Chinese weapons and manpower to the cause. His dead eyes hardly ever registered emotion, not even when he shot someone in the back of the head.

Representing the Caldwell Group along with Wolf was Wolf’s second son, a cold-blooded CIEF operator, formerly of Delta, who went by the call sign Rapier.

Representing Saudi Arabia was the man who had betrayed Jack West’s team earlier in the mission: thin and skeletal, with a long ratlike nose, he was an agent of the notorious Saudi Royal Intelligence Service known as Vulture.

Accompanying Vulture was a handsome young captain from the United Arab Emirates named Scimitar. The first son of its chief sheik—and thus the older brother of Pooh Bear—Scimitar had joined Vulture in his betrayal of Jack and Pooh Bear, even going so far as to leave his younger brother to die in an Ethiopian mine.

The last member of Wolf’s entourage was a woman, a beautiful and poised young lady in her thirties: Ms. Iolanthe Compton-Jones, the Keeper of the Royal Records of the House of Windsor.

As the six of them sat in the limousine bound for Cape Town’s military airstrip, Wolf pulled a glittering Pillar from his pack and handed it to Vulture.

“As per our bargain, Saudi,” Wolf said. “Once I got the Second Pillar, fully charged, you became entitled to the First, also charged.”

Vulture took the First Pillar, charged at the First Vertex at Abu Simbel, eyeing it with barely concealed delight.

When he replied, his eyes scanned Wolf’s closely. “That was indeed our bargain, Colonel West. I thank you for honoring the agreement. I wish you good fortune in the remainder of your mission. Should you require any further assistance from the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, you need only call.”

The limousine arrived at the military base. Passing the gatehouse without any checks, it arrived at two Gulfstream-IV private jets parked side by side.

Vulture and Scimitar boarded one and immediately departed.

Wolf, Rapier, Mao, and Iolanthe watched them go.

Mao said, “I don’t trust the Saudis for a moment. They have money, but they have all the honor of a gang of desert bandits.”

“They had their use.” Iolanthe shrugged. “We used them.”

“And they came through,” Wolf said.

“So what now?” Mao asked.

“Now,” Wolf said, “we get a reprieve of approximately three months, till March of next year. And we’ll need that time to research the locations of the remaining four Pillars and Vertices.”

Iolanthe said, “I have the Fourth Pillar already. The Third Pillar is believed to be in the possession of the Japanese Imperial Family. I understand that after the Second World War, a team of American agents was sent to find it but failed. Is this true?”

Wolf nodded. “Hirohito hid it during the war. We never found it. We assume it’s still somewhere in Japan.

“Which means we have in our possession the Second and the Fourth Pillars,” he continued. “The Third, Fifth, and Sixth Pillars must still be found. Likewise, all four of the remaining Vertices need to be discovered before the return of the Dark Sun in March of next year. I’ve had my scientific people working on the Stonehenge data while we’ve been traipsing around Africa, and I imagine our new African friend, the Neetha holy man, will have unique knowledge as well.”

“What about this coalition of minnow nations?” Mao growled. “This group led by your first son, the Australian.”

“He doesn’t lead them anymore,” Wolf said, thinking of Jack falling into the abyss. “Without him, they’re weakened but not destroyed. The Irish woman is formidable, as we discovered in Africa, and Professor Epper is resilient. In the short term, pressure needs to be exerted on their masters.”

“And in the longer term? What if they cross our path again?”

“Then we crush them with overwhelming force,” Wolf said.

“Good,” Mao said. “Finally.”



AIRSPACE OVER NAMIBIA


DECEMBER 17, 2007, 0645 HOURS

    THE HALICARNASSUS thundered through the sky, banking dramatically to evade the line of glowing tracer rounds that sizzled through the air all around it, tracers that had been unleashed by a pursuing South African Air Force F-15, the first of four fighters chasing it.

The big black 747 rocketed westward, crossing the boundary between the drab brown Namib Desert and the Atlantic Ocean, heading out over the vast expanse of blue.

It had been fleeing like this for almost an hour, since South Africa—all their expenses paid by the Saudis—had scrambled an air patrol to take them out: and in the last ten minutes, as the fighters had caught up with them, it had become a running aerial gun battle.

As the Halicarnassus flew, it returned fire at the lead F-15 from one of the 50mm gun turrets mounted on the inner sections of its wings.

Manning the starboard gun—facing backward as the jumbo screamed forward through the air—was Zoe Kissane. She drew a bead on the trailing F-15 and assailed it with a withering blast of 50mm fire.

But the South African pilot was skilled and he barrel rolled clear of the stream of gunfire.

“Sky Monster . . . !” Zoe called into her radio. “This is like shooting at goddamn bumblebees! What’s our plan!”

Sky Monster’s voice came in from the cockpit: “They might be smaller and faster than we are, but we can fly farther than they can. They gotta be running low on fuel. So the plan is: you keep holding them off while I get us as far as possible over the ocean, till they decide they’re too low on gas and have to turn back. We beat them with range.”

Sky Monster proved to be correct.

A few minutes later, the lead South African fighter loosed a single AIM-9 Sidewinder air-to-air missile and bugged out, heading back for the mainland with his buddies.

Zoe took care of the Sidewinder with a directed microwave burst that literally cooked the missile’s dome-mounted infrared targeting system, and the missile ditched harmlessly into the ocean.

The aerial battle over, she wearily headed up to the 747’s cockpit, where she found Wizard and Lily with Sky Monster.

Oddly, they were grinning, beaming even.

“Zoe,” Wizard said, “we just got a call from the Sea Ranger. Jack’s alive and he has Alby with him. The Sea Ranger has them both. They want us to rendezvous at World’s End.”

Zoe sighed with relief. “Thank God. Take us there.”



LITTLE MCDONALD ISLAND


INDIAN OCEAN

DECEMBER 20, 2007

3 DAYS LATER

AT THE bottom of the Indian Ocean, in one of the most remote regions of the world, there can be found a cluster of barren rocky islands.

The Kerguélen Islands are administered by France, while the Prince Edward Islands are claimed by South Africa. But south of them all, battered year-round by icy Antarctic winds and the rolling waves of the southern seas, is the Heard group of islands. They are administered by Australia.

One of the Heard islands is Little McDonald Island. It has no wildlife and little flora. There is literally no reason to go there. Which is probably why it was used during World War II as a resupply base for the Australian Navy, complete with fuel dumps, storage warehouses, and even a short landing strip.

By the 1990s, its use as a base was long obsolete and it was shut down in late 1991. Whole containers of canned food and diesel fuel had been left there, and in sixteen years, not a single can had been stolen. It wasn’t worth the effort to get there.

Which was why no one in the world noticed the Kilo-class submarine and the black Boeing 747 that arrived at Little McDonald Island two days after the high drama at the Second Vertex.

Of course, they knew the island by another name: World’s End.

• • •

The reunion of Jack and the team was a joyous occasion.

Lily leaped into Jack’s arms, hugged him tightly—then she ran over to Alby and hugged him even harder.

Zoe and Jack also embraced warmly, holding each other for a full minute.

“Alby told me all about what happened with the Neetha,” Jack said softly. “You must have been incredible.”

Zoe didn’t answer.

She just began sobbing on Jack’s shoulder, burying her head in his neck, unleashing the pent-up stress and emotion that had been inside her since her bloody encounter with the lost tribe of African cannibals.

When at last she spoke, she said in a hoarse voice, “Next time, let’s let somebody else save the world.”

Jack laughed, stroking her hair gently.

As he held Zoe, he saw Wizard and, with him, the archaeologist and Neetha expert, Diane Cassidy, plus the Neetha youth, Ono, who had helped them during their escape from the remote tribe.

Wizard smiled. “Clearly, it’s not the fall that kills you, Jack.”

“Right,” Jack said.

“Hey,” Lily said, looking around, suddenly alarmed. “Where’s Pooh Bear? And where’s Stretch?”

• • •

Once the reunion was complete and introductions made, the team went inside a decrepit old warehouse beside the island’s airstrip. Water was heated for showers; canned food was opened and eaten; and Jack explained to the others what had happened to him before he’d arrived at Cape Town.

He told them what had happened at the mine in Ethiopia, including the betrayal of Vulture and Scimitar, his own gruesome crucifixion, his and Pooh Bear’s bloody escape and the parting gift they’d received from the Ethiopian slave force there: the fabled Twin Tablets of Thuthmosis.

Jack pulled the two stone tablets from his backpack, which had been kept on the submarine during the events at the Second Vertex.

Wizard audibly gasped at the sight of them.

“If Thuthmosis was actually Moses,” he said, “then that would make these the Ten Com—”

“Yes,” Jack said.

“Goodness-gracious-Mother-of . . .”

“As for Stretch,” Jack went on, “Wolf didn’t bring him to the mine. Instead, he took him back to the Mossad in Israel, to claim the sixteen-million-dollar bounty on Stretch’s head.”

“Oh no . . .” Lily breathed.

Jack said, “After Pooh Bear and I escaped from that mine in Ethiopia, we headed south to the old farm in Kenya. But when I set out for Zanzibar to find the Sea Ranger, Pooh Bear didn’t come with me. He went off to rescue Stretch from the Mossad’s dungeons. That was nine days ago. I haven’t heard from him since.”

A solemn silence descended on the group.

Lily broke it.

“When we were in the Hanging Gardens,” she said, “Stretch defied an Israeli Army squad and saved my life. He chose us over them and now they’re making him pay.”

She recalled the scene vividly: trapped in a filling pool of quicksand, she had stood on Stretch’s shoulders to poke her nose and mouth above the surface, while he had breathed through his sniper rifle’s gun barrel, using it as a snorkel.

Alby asked, “What does the Mossad do to Israeli soldiers who switch sides and fight against them?”

Jack threw a glance at Zoe and Wizard. Zoe nodded silently. Wizard just bowed his head.

When he finally answered, Jack spoke in a low voice, his face serious. “The Mossad isn’t known for showing mercy to its enemies. Traitors like Stretch receive the harshest punishment of all. There are stories of high-security desert prisons, their locations kept strictly secret, where high-grade prisoners are kept under twenty-four-hour guard and . . . mistreated . . . for years.”

“Mistreated?” Lily said.

“For years?” Alby said.

Jack said, “If Pooh Bear even manages to discover where they’re keeping Stretch, getting in and busting him out will be an all-but-impossible task. It’d be like breaking into Guantanamo Bay and running off with a terrorist.”

Lily said, “You did that once, Daddy. Can’t we go and help Pooh Bear?”

Jack looked at her sadly. “Lily. Honey. There are some operations that even I wouldn’t dare attempt, and this is one of them. I’m sorry, I really am, but we have to leave that to Pooh Bear and keep our eyes on the larger mission. It’s a hard decision for me to make, really hard, believe me, but weighing up the possibilities and probabilities of success, I have to make it this way. I’m sorry.”

Jack bowed his head, but not before he saw the look Lily gave him—a look he’d never seen on her face before. It was a look of the most profound disappointment, and at that moment, he hated himself.

“So what are we going to do now then?” Lily asked in a sour tone.

“First of all,” Jack said, “Alby is going back to his mother in Perth; she’ll be beside herself when she sees his arm. And after Christmas, I’ll be sending you to join him. Keep you two out of harm’s way for a while.”

“What!” Lily protested. “What about the rest of you?”

“We’re going to try to find the remaining Pillars and Vertices before the world ends in March of next year.”
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WOLF’S MINE


LALIBELA, ETHIOPIA

DECEMBER 11, 2007

ONE WEEK EARLIER

WOLF AND Mao Gongli emerged from the mine, stepping out into bright sunshine.

It was six days before the events at the Second Vertex.

Wolf had just seen his son, Jack West Jr., crushed underneath a massive stone slab, seemingly killed. He’d also left Pooh Bear down there to be sacrificed by the mine’s zealous religious guards.

Waiting calmly and casually up here was the British woman, Iolanthe. Waiting less casually—hog-tied hand and foot with handcuffs, bleeding from a beating, his eyes blindfolded by a filthy rag, and lying facedown in the bed of a pickup truck—was Stretch.

Arriving at the pickup, Wolf stood over Stretch for a long moment, as if assessing him.

“Lieutenant Benjamin Cohen,” Wolf mused. “Once of the Sayaret Matkal, the famed Israeli sniper force, where you attained the call sign Archer. Transferred to the Mossad in 2003 and soon after assigned to infiltrate the multinational team led by Jack West Jr. and monitor its attempts to locate the pieces of the Golden Capstone of the Great Pyramid. But you went native and you joined West and his team, culminating in a terrible Solomonic Choice where you had to choose between your new friends and your old masters.”

Wolf paused. “And you chose your new friends.”

Beside him, Mao grunted in disgust.

“Which is why your old bosses at the Mossad made you a Category Five ‘Enemy of the Nation of Israel’—a category usually reserved only for ex-Nazis and terrorist leaders. They put a price on your head, $16 million, which I will be only too happy to collect. You chose wrong, Lieutenant Cohen.”

With his head pressed against the hard steel bed of the pickup, beneath his blindfold, Stretch closed his eyes in dismay.

A single tear appeared from underneath his blindfold and trickled down his cheek.

• • •

Curiously, Wolf himself took Stretch to Israel.

Of course, Stretch was kept blindfolded for the duration of the short journey—during which time he heard Wolf occasionally speak on a satellite phone with his team in Africa, the team pursuing Wizard, Zoe, Lily, and Alby through Rwanda and the Congo.

But for the final leg of his journey to his former masters, Stretch was drugged and his world went black.

• • •

When he awoke, he found—to his horror—that he was suspended upright inside a reinforced glass tank of some sort, his hands and feet spread-eagled, starlike, manacled to chains at the four corners of the phone-booth-sized tank.

He was naked.

He noticed an IV drip stuck into his right arm—its tiny clear tube rose up and out the open top of his rectangular glass coffin. A catheter-like excretion unit covering his groin area took away waste.

Beyond the confines of his tank, Stretch saw Wolf talking with an older man whom Stretch had met only once in his time at the Mossad: Mordechai Muniz, the ruthless former head of the Mossad, now its “official advisor.”

Bald, fat, and pale, with pitiless black eyes, Muniz had been on the team that abducted Adolf Eichmann from Argentina in 1960. He had also captured the Black September mastermind behind the Munich Olympics massacre—alive. The terrorist had not been seen since. In the world of spy agencies, Muniz was a legend and his nickname “the Old Master” was well deserved.

The Old Master turned to appraise Stretch, surveying his manacled and exposed body like a hunter assessing a captured lion.

Muniz smiled thinly, revealing a set of uneven yellow teeth. “Lieutenant Cohen. Welcome back to your homeland. You know, there are some who believe that traitors like you should simply be executed for their crimes. But in the higher echelons of the Mossad, we believe that as a punishment death is too easy, too quick, for one such as you: you the wrongdoer suffer no consequence for your actions, you don’t get to really think about what you’ve done.”

As Muniz spoke, Stretch saw two technicians climb up a pair of stepladders on either side of his nine-foot-tall glass tank. One of them reached in the open top of the tank and jammed a nose-and-mouth scuba-diving regulator over Stretch’s mouth and nose, securing it firmly to Stretch’s head so he couldn’t dislodge it. The regulator’s oxygen tube snaked up and out of the big tank to an air canister attached to its rear flank.

The second technician did something far more frightening.

He angled a wide-bore fire hose into Stretch’s tank and pulled a lever, unloading gallon after gallon of a stinking green liquid into the tank. The liquid swelled around Stretch’s feet, sloshing wildly, quickly rising to his knees . . . then his waist . . . then his chest . . .

Bang!

The two technicians slammed a thick glass lid down onto the tank’s open top and started welding it into place with blowtorches.

Welding it . . .

His mouth covered by the breathing apparatus, Stretch’s eyes boggled.

They were welding him inside this tank!

The sickly green liquid rose ever higher, reaching his throat.

Muniz’s voice sounded hollow now, distant. He said, “No, Lieutenant Cohen, death is far too good a sentence for you. Your crime deserves more than that; it requires substantial suffering. This is where I come in. Trust me, after several years down here with me, you’ll wish we had executed you.”

And with that the foul green liquid sloshed over Stretch’s face and he began to breathe quickly, desperately, through his scuba mouthpiece.

The world around him became blurred, veiled in pale green.

Stretch could just make out Muniz and Wolf shaking hands, and Muniz handing Wolf a suitcase of some kind.

Then Wolf left.

Muniz returned, alone.

And he stood before Stretch’s tank, arms folded, just staring up at Stretch—naked and spread-eagled, submerged in the foul green liquid, encased in the welded-shut reinforced glass tank.

Unable to move, and hearing only the sound of his own breathing inside his head, Stretch watched the blurred figure of Muniz standing there gazing at him.

Then Muniz went over to his desk and casually sat down to make a phone call, and in a moment of the purest horror, Stretch suddenly saw how he was destined to spend the rest of his natural life.



RIO DE JANEIRO, BRAZIL


DECEMBER 31, 2007, 11:58 P.M.

IT HAD taken Pooh Bear almost three weeks and $2 million to find him.

Money certainly made things move more quickly, he thought. The Israelis had spent sixty years trying to capture Wolfgang Linstricht, but to no avail. Once, in Buenos Aires, a Mossad assassin had found him, but Linstricht had killed the man with a bread knife through the ribs, having stalked his stalker through the grimy alleyways of the Argentine capital.

A lifetime ago, Linstricht had been the sergeant at arms at the notorious Nazi concentration camp, Treblinka. He had been Franz Stangl’s enforcer: when the commandant ordered that someone be shot, it was Linstricht, a towering six-foot-four brute, who’d carried out the order.

But when the Second World War ended and top Nazis like Stangl scattered, Linstricht also slipped the net and fled to South America, and had not been seen since.

As Pooh Bear had discovered, Linstricht moved constantly between South American countries to avoid capture: from Brazil to Argentina to Chile. The Israeli abduction of Adolf Eichmann must have scared the shit out of him. But as the episode with the Mossad stalker showed, even at age eighty-six and constantly hunched to disguise his height, Linstricht was still lethal.

And now here he was, Pooh Bear saw, right there across the street, an old man chatting up a long-legged Brazilian prostitute amid the fireworks and festival atmosphere of New Year’s Eve in Rio.

Pooh Bear watched them from the shadows, watched them head back to Linstricht’s hotel.

• • •

After Pooh Bear and Jack had parted ways at Nairobi Airport three weeks earlier, Pooh Bear had headed back to his home country of the United Arab Emirates, his primary goal: to discover where the Israeli Secret Service, the Mossad, was keeping his friend Stretch.

He also wanted to inform his father, the Emirates’ chief sheik, Anzar al Abbas, of his brother Scimitar’s heinous betrayal.

But en route to Dubai, Pooh Bear had discovered from a friend in the Intelligence Service that only a day before, his father had abruptly disappeared. The old sheik, he was told, had been summoned by Scimitar to join him in Riyadh. Shortly after, all contact with him had been lost.

Dubai, Pooh Bear’s friend told him, was now in the hands of his brother’s cronies. It was not safe for him to return.

Despite the state of affairs back home, being the second son of the Emirates’ chief sheik still had its advantages. Pooh Bear had contacts in the international intelligence community and large amounts of his own trust-fund money—a couple of million dollars—to throw around.

For a week, Pooh Bear made calls, did research, paid bribes, and spoke with Mossad watchers both legitimate and not so legitimate. For a quarter of a million dollars, he acquired a collection of CIA intercepts of phone conversations between the highest ranking Mossad officials.

After all that, his key discovery about Benjamin Cohen—once known as Archer, but known to Pooh by the name Lily had given him, Stretch—was that he “had been designated a Category Five Enemy of the Nation of Israel for the crime of treason.”

Israel’s “Category Five List” was an elite one, reserved for the worst of Israel’s enemies.

But despite his intelligence contacts, intercepts and money, Pooh Bear could not discover where captured Category Five enemies were jailed. No one knew. Lesser targets were placed in military prisons or supermax jails. But not Category Fivers. If they were jailed, no one knew where, and if they were executed no one knew where or how such executions were carried out.

The only thing that Pooh knew for sure was that if Israel captured a Category Five enemy, that man disappeared from the face of the Earth.

And so he formed a plan.

He would find a Category Five Enemy of the State of Israel and turn him in to the Mossad—but not before doing one last thing.

The target he chose was Wolfgang Linstricht.

• • •

Fireworks exploded in the sky above Rio.

Ten minutes after the New Year was rung in and with the last fireworks still flaring above the city, Pooh Bear kicked in the door of Room 6 of a run-down hotel on the waterfront.

Wolfgang Linstricht leaped out of bed, naked, hurling the woman off him, reaching for a pistol among his clothes—but Pooh Bear was faster, bounding across the room. He must have looked fearsome to the aging German: a burly, dark-eyed, big-bearded, olive-skinned Arab, charging across the dingy room. Pooh kicked Linstricht to the ground before he could grab the gun and jammed a handheld taser into the German’s ribs.

Linstricht convulsed violently and slumped to the floor. The prostitute screamed.

“Get out,” Pooh Bear growled.

She scuttled out, clutching her clothes, leaving Pooh Bear standing over the unconscious Linstricht in the damp little room.

Pooh Bear pulled a capsule from his pocket—it was the size of an aspirin tablet—slid it into Linstricht’s mouth and pinched the man’s nose, forcing him to swallow it.

Then Pooh Bear called the Mossad.
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ISRAEL AND SURROUNDS





DIMONA NUCLEAR RESEARCH CENTER


NEGEV DESERT, ISRAEL

JANUARY 10, 2008, 0530 HOURS

TEN DAYS later, Pooh Bear lay flat on his belly in the hills of the Negev Desert in the barren core of Israel.

Two hundred meters ahead of him stood an enormous military facility, the centerpiece of which was a sixty-foot-high shiny silver dome. Arrayed around the dome were a dozen warehouse-sized buildings, two concrete smokestacks, and a cluster of satellite dishes and radio antennas. Antiaircraft-gun emplacements marked every corner of the base—emplacements, Pooh had noticed, that were manned twenty-four hours a day.

It was the Dimona Nuclear Research Center, the beating heart of the Israeli nuclear weapons program, a program whose very existence Israel has neither confirmed nor denied since the 1960s.

As Pooh Bear well knew, Israel possessed nuclear weapons—about two hundred of them, in fact—and they fabricated them here at Dimona, making it the most heavily guarded installation in the country.

It was curious then, Pooh thought, that the capsule-sized GPS transponder that he’d slipped down Wolfgang Linstricht’s throat had led him here. After the Mossad had picked up Linstricht—based on Pooh’s tip-off—they had taken a circuitous three-day journey halfway around the world that had ended here at Dimona.

And according to Pooh’s GPS monitor, Linstrict had been taken to a small bunkerlike building half-buried in the earth in the isolated northeastern corner of the base.

• • •

The Negev Desert is one of the most desolate places on Earth.

The ruins of ancient way stations, stopping points on the spice route, can be found among its rocky hills and valleys. Likewise, Roman-era quarries and mines are common: King Herod’s vast salt mine, Baqaba, lies forty kilometers south of Dimona, not far from its smaller sister mine, Uqaba. Crumbling mesas and craters provide the only sights, and even they are of only modest interest. It is a dead land: vast and empty. Nothing grows in the Negev.

It had taken Pooh Bear four days to get into position close to the fence line.

Four days of careful slow crawling, so as not to set off any motion sensors; sleeping under a camouflaged thermal blanket so as not to betray a heat signature; and lying still during the day so as not to catch the eye of the sentries who periodically patrolled the perimeter of the complex.

He’d spent half of one day locating some kind of weak point in the fence—and found it in a small eroded crevice of crumbled rock that straddled the base of the fence on the eastern side of the base. The second half of that day had been spent chipping away at the crevice, making it wide enough for him to slip through under the fence.

After that, he’d backed off and waited till this morning to make his move.

The reason: according to his intel, the previous night Dimona was to receive a large shipment of enriched uranium, during which security would be upgraded.

His intel proved to be correct: that night the whole base had lit up like a football stadium, with floodlights and extra guards patrolling the fences. Around midnight, over at the main gates on the western side of the complex, a large semitrailer rig—with a lead-lined shipping container on its back and flanked by escort jeeps equipped with .50 caliber machine guns—had rumbled into the complex and headed for the base’s storage and enrichment facility, Machon-2.

This morning, with the operation safely over, the extra guards were let go and—Pooh wagered—the base guards would be unwinding, glad it had gone off without a hitch. They would be looser. They would be careless.

Pooh Bear gazed up at the massive silver dome rising above the base before him—the main reactor, known as Machon-1.

Game time, he said to himself.

Dawn came, and Pooh Bear made his move.

He slipped under the fence and crouch-ran toward the isolated bunker. A small explosive blasted open the lock on its heavy steel door and Pooh Bear was in.

Dark concrete corridors, a darker concrete stairwell plunging down into the bowels of the Earth, and suddenly a strange pungent odor that made his nose crinkle, an odor that smelled like formaldehyde.

Moving fast and low, with his MP7 gripped tightly and guided by his blinking GPS receiver, Pooh Bear emerged from the stairwell into a wider space . . .

. . . and his mouth fell open.

“Allah in heaven save me . . .” he breathed in horror.


POOH BEAR found himself standing in an ancient subterranean room built by Roman engineers over two thousand years ago: multiple sandstone arches and ornate columns dominated each side of the square three-story-high space. A small pool, empty of water, sat to one side, once a Roman bath.

A large desk and a high-backed leather chair sat at one end of the chamber facing the source of Pooh’s horror.

On the opposite side of the room, arrayed in three horizontal rows of four so that they were positioned within the Roman arches, stood twelve massive water tanks, each the size of a large telephone booth.

Each tank was filled to the brim with a pale green liquid and encased in them, hovering in the liquid, arms and legs outstretched in humiliating star shapes, were men—naked men wearing half-face scuba breathing masks and plugged into IV and excretion tubes.

Pooh Bear found he couldn’t breathe.

It was a wall of human trophies.

Living human trophies.

They looked like a dozen Harry Houdinis, all having failed the same water-tank escape trick. Lines of bubbles rose from their mouthpieces. Some of them blinked, alert and awake in their liquid hells.

So this is what happens to Israel’s most reviled enemies, Pooh thought.

And in an instant the meaning of the pungent odor became clear: the green liquid was formaldehyde or a watered-down form of it, and formaldehyde was an excellent preservative. These men were being kept alive and preserved in their tanks.

Pooh Bear began to feel ill.

He shook the thought away and began searching the tanks for his friend.

In the first tank he came to, he saw Wolfgang Linstricht suspended in the green haze, eyes closed, asleep. In the next tank, Pooh saw another elderly white man whom he couldn’t place, then in the third, a younger man with the distinctive long beard of an Islamic extremist, and then in the fourth . . .

. . . Stretch.

Pooh Bear gasped as he saw his friend spread-eagled in the green liquid, his head bowed, his eyes closed.

Pooh banged on the glass wall of the tank and Stretch’s eyes opened. At first they squinted in the green gloom but then Stretch seemed to realize that the person standing in front of his tank was not the usual person.

His eyes sprang open when he saw that it was Pooh Bear. A burst of bubbles exploded from his scuba mouthpiece.

“Hang on,” Pooh Bear said, even though Stretch couldn’t possibly hear him. “I’m gonna get you out of there—”

It was at that exact moment that Pooh Bear felt a stinging stab on the nape of his neck. He reached up and felt a small dart there.

Then his arm fell suddenly limp and a wave of terror shot through him as he realized he couldn’t move his limbs.

Pooh slumped to the floor in front of Stretch’s tank, his entire body going slack.

And then he heard a voice.

“One shouldn’t enter a spider’s web unless he is truly sure the spider won’t return while he is there.”

• • •

A figure stepped into Pooh Bear’s field of vision: he was an older man, bald, fat, and pale, and he smiled meanly. With him was an Israeli soldier, holding a tranquillizer gun.

“Hello, Zahir al Anzar al Abbas,” the older man said brightly. “My name is Mordechai Muniz. We’ve been watching you on our thermal imagers for two days now. You’ve been a source of immense amusement to me and to the guards at this base. You really are a tenacious son of a whore. That you got this far at all is very impressive. Foolish, but impressive.”

The Old Master grinned. “You like my living human decorations? The diluted formaldehyde mixture works well—it’s a marvelous preservative, although after a decade or so, its carcinogenic properties seep through the skin to produce very painful cancers in my guests. I learned this technique of ‘live imprisonment’ from a Russian friend of mine, an ex–Soviet general who has a collection of his own. We have a friendly competition going, he and I, to see who can amass the most impressive collection of human beings.”

Pooh Bear still couldn’t move.

Muniz shrugged. “Considering the long, silent life your friend has ahead of him, today you have brought him a rare gift: an event. Congratulations, Lieutenant Cohen will get to watch you die in front of him.”

Pooh Bear could only lie there, helpless on the floor, his eyes wide, his limbs useless.

But then in a sudden moment of realization, he saw his watch—the watch Jack had given him on the tarmac at Nairobi Airport when they had parted; the watch which Jack had said was fitted with an emergency GPS beacon that Pooh could press if he was captured or in danger.

With all his might, Pooh Bear willed his right hand toward his left wrist, toward the watch, but no matter how hard he tried or how desperately he focused his mind on it, his right hand wouldn’t—couldn’t—move.

The watch, his only means of letting anyone know where he was, remained tantalizingly out of reach.

Pooh slumped his head against the hard marble floor, devastated, and in that moment, he knew this rescue was over, a valiant but foolhardy failure.

He closed his eyes in disgust . . .

. . . just as from somewhere outside there came a dull shuddering boom that took both Pooh Bear and Mordechai Muniz by surprise.


SIRENS WAILED and emergency lights flashed all over the Dimona Nuclear Research Center.

A great plume of black smoke rose up from one end of Machon-2, the uranium storage warehouse next to the main reactor dome, Machon-1. The charred remains of the giant semitrailer rig that had delivered the uranium shipment the night before now lay in a smoking heap at the building’s docking bay.
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